IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2018-001745

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Apr 15 2020

SC Court of Appeals

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

William Lee Carpenter.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Fletcher N. Smith, Jr.
Law Firm of Fletcher N. Smith, Jr., LLC
112 Wakefield Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(803) 232-6541

Elizabeth Franklin-Best
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.
2725 Devine Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29205
(803) 331-3421

Counsel for Appellant

Other Counsel:

William Blicht, Jr.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

William Lee Carpenter was indicted by the Greenville County grand jury for two counts of criminal sexual conduct first degree, two counts of exposing another to HIV, and two counts of criminal sexual conduct third degree. He was tried before the Honorable Letitia H. Verdin and a jury between September 10- 13, 2018. He was convicted and sentenced to 30 years for both counts of criminal sexual conduct in the first degree, 10 years for each count of exposing another to HIV, and 15 years for both counts of criminal sexual conduct in the third degree. The sentences were ordered to run concurrently. Carpenter was represented by Joshua Kendrick and Christopher Leonard. The State was represented by Christy Sustakovitch and Candace Clark.

This appeal timely follows.

Relevant Facts

William Lee Carpenter was convicted of the sexual abuse of two of the four grandchildren who were living with him, his girlfriend, and his son and daughter-in-law during a two-year period. ROA 96. Complicating the trial of this case is that Carpenter has unusual sexual preferences that, though legal, the State exploited in its attempt to prove Carpenter guilty of the crimes against his grandchildren, even though these sexual preferences were irrelevant and highly prejudicial. As Carpenter ultimately explained to the jury during his testimony, he is a “submissive” sexual partner who also is a coprophilic, or someone who receives sexual arousal from feces.

Evidence relating to this aspect of Carpenter’s character was admitted into evidence, over objections, and constitutes the issues raised on this appeal.

Pre-Trial Motions and Pre-Trial Hearing

On August 18, 2016, defense counsel filed various motions to exclude irrelevant and highly prejudicial evidence sought to be admitted by the State. ROA 587-592. Relevant to the claims here, counsel filed a motion to exclude any and all references to any of Carpenter’s sexual predilections that do not involve illegal activity. Counsel also filed a motion *in limine* related to any photographs pertaining to Carpenter’s sexual preferences. A pre-trial hearing was held on September 6, 2018 regarding the admission of this evidence. Generally, defense counsel sought to keep out any references to Carpenter’s interest in coprophilia, but the hearing focused on two sets of evidence—photographs, including one of Carpenter’s girlfriend covered in excrement, and computer searches related to Carpenter’s sexual fetishes.

The Photograph

In response to counsel’s motion to exclude admission of the photograph, the State argued the admission of this evidence was necessary to prove intent under *South Caroline Rules of Evidence*, Rule 404(b), Supp ROA 16, 27, and to “educate” the jury. Supp ROA 23-24. As the solicitor explained, the State would be unable to win its case without the evidence. Supp ROA 21. The State also argued it wanted to introduce the picture to show the time this activity was occurring in the household to rebut an anticipated defense argument that Carpenter was often at work, or there

were too many people in the house for this kind of activity to have been occurring.

Supp ROA 22. The State argued:

Honestly, in all the years I've prosecuted, I've never come across one. I can find no case law related to coprophilia and how a court would deal with it. It's just not a regular sex act that you can draw the commonsense intent. And what I would say is: It is outside of the common knowledge of a jury that anybody would be sexually aroused by rubbing feces on a child's back. I just believe that.

The basis of the CSC third charge is that that happened. And as we mentioned, the enema in the rectum. Your Honor, unlike those commonly understood sex acts, this type of physical contact where you're incorporating feces is outside the common knowledge that a Greenville County juror would have to understand that that act, in and of itself, would ever bring [gratification], which is one of the elements of CSC third. . .

It almost sounds fantastical. If you have no knowledge of this, you know, until you have one look at a picture like that, it's hard to describe.

Supp ROA 16, l. 10- 18, l. 4.

The State made a conscious decision not to use an expert to explain this subject matter to a jury since "a picture is worth a thousand words . . ." Supp ROA 34, l. 3.¹

The Computer Searches

The State also wanted to introduce Carpenter's computer searches into "urine" and "piss" into evidence to prove intent. The State argued:

So the state is not offering to prove that he [is] some kind of deviant person, or character evidence at all, Your Honor. The issue here is that the intent behind this defendant's actions, when he put feces on their back, is not apparent. It's not like those cases where you—you know—excuse the words, I guess, garden-variety vaginal sex or anal sex or oral sex. The intent behind that is apparent, so the state doesn't have

¹ This photograph is so inflammatory, in fact, that the trial court sealed it at some point, and undersigned counsel had to request this Court, on June 20, 2019, order the Greenville County Clerk of Court's Office to allow counsel to access it.

to really prove that. And that's what the cases are saying. They're saying you don't need to prove intent in that scenario. But this one is just a different animal. It's a different case.

Supp ROA 15, l. 21- 16, l. 9.

When the judge asked specifically why the internet searches were relevant, the

State responded:

Well, and there's a large amount of Internet searches related to urine and enemas. And when you go back to this very specific form of sexual activity, the children—Brendan is saying that they inserted—he calls it a “douche” in his rectum. And he tries to describe it. He says it's like shots are.

But I think the fact that there are no many searches for enemas does educate the jury related to this unique form of sexual activity. I think, you know, a lot of people are not into drinking urine. A lot of people are not into—most people . . . And I'm just being honest in trying to think through it. When you have over 500 hits related to that and these children are going to say that they had to drink urine, I think it just goes to prove a totality of the circumstances.

Supp ROA 19, ll. 2-22.

Again, the State argued it wanted to give the jury “the full picture” because coprophilia is outside the normal knowledge of the jury. Supp ROA 24, l. 1.

Defense Counsel Objections and the Court's Ruling

Defense counsel argued all of this testimony was inadmissible. He argued it was not admissible under SCRE, Rule 404(b). Supp ROA 26-28. He also argued it was irrelevant. Supp ROA 32. The trial judge found it admissible because the State has the burden of showing some sexual gratification from the touching, and that the jury “might not understand” that the touching was sexual without this evidence. Supp ROA 28, ll. 21-22. The State reiterated its two grounds for admitting this evidence

were 1) because it has the burden of proving the elements of CSC third degree, and 2) to prove intent under SCRE, Rule 404(b). Supp ROA 29. The trial court judge found the probative value of the photograph illustrating Carpenter's girlfriend covered in excrement outweighed its prejudicial value. Supp ROA 37. Per her ruling from the bench, she conducted both a SCRE, Rule 404 analysis and a SCRE, Rule 403 analysis. Supp ROA 38.

Before the start of the trial, the parties renewed objections to this testimony and clarified the scope of what evidence would be admitted. ROA 24-28.

The Trial

The State offered the following evidence at trial: James Parris, an officer with the Traveler's Rest Police Department, testified that he received a report of a possible sexual assault on June 4, 2016. ROA 107-08. The children's mother, Dalina Moore and two children came to the police department around 8:00pm that evening. ROA 108. At that point, only her daughter was the complainant. ROA 108. Ms. Moore was very distraught, and the officer wrote her statement for her. ROA 109. He did not talk to the child. ROA 110. Officer Parris then forwarded the case to Tim Kelly, who became the lead investigator on the case. ROA 111. Ms. Moore and her children left the police station around 9:30pm. ROA 115.

Tim Kelly, the Captain of the Traveler's Rest Police Department also testified. ROA 117. At the time of these events, he was an investigator. ROA 117. On June 6, 2016 he was forwarded Parris's initial report. He then contacted the Julie Valentine Center and set up forensic interviews with the two children. ROA 118. Kelly

attended the interviews. ROA 119. According to Kelly, the female child disclosed sexual abuse that occurred at her grandfather's house. Kelly determined the child was at that house from Spring of 2014 to Spring of 2016. ROA 120. At the time of the interview, the female child was 9 years old. Her brother was 10. She alleged the abuse occurred around Thanksgiving but was not specific as to whether it was 2014 or 2015. ROA 120. The male child, during this interview, did not disclose any abuse. ROA 120.

During the investigation, Kelly obtained a search warrant. ROA 121. He testified they were trying to find evidence related to the allegations of sexual assault. ROA 122. Kelly testified that while executing the search warrant, he located Carpenter's cell phone. Kelly said Carpenter told him-- about what would be found on the cell phone-- that "he had a varied sex life." Defense counsel immediately objected. ROA 130. Then, according to Kelly, Carpenter showed him pictures on the cell phone of his girlfriend (and co-defendant), nude in the bathtub with feces on her. ROA 131. The Solicitor entered this picture into evidence at the trial. ROA 131.

Kelly testified that Carpenter told him that his phone and computers were password protected and that he left his bedroom locked when he was not there. ROA 136. Carpenter was arrested on June 19, 2016. ROA 136.

November 2, 2016, nearly four and a half months after the initial complaint to the police, Dalina Moore called Kelly and told him that her son disclosed sexual assaults committed against him. ROA 136. Additional interviews were conducted,

and Carpenter was charged with additional crimes. ROA 136. Kelly recommended the children have medical examinations. ROA 137.

On cross-examination law enforcement admitted that Carpenter was highly cooperative. Carpenter told law enforcement about an additional computer tablet he had in the trunk of his car, and a computer he had his place of business. ROA 140-41. Law enforcement never interviewed any of Carpenter's family members, or his neighbors, or any of his associates. ROA 142.

Kelly testified on cross-examination that he later became aware of some of the male child's serious psychological conditions. He had some cursory knowledge of his history but did not know the details. ROA 152.

The parties stipulated that Carpenter is HIV+ and was on notice of that status at the time of these alleged events. ROA 156.

Investigator Jim Perry of the Greenville County Sheriff's Office also testified. ROA 156. He is currently an investigator in the computer crimes investigation unit. ROA 157. He retrieved photographs from Carpenter's cell phone. ROA 160. The State moved State's Exhibit #14 into evidence, again over defense counsel objection and published it to the jury. ROA 161. It was the picture of Carpenter's co-defendant and girlfriend, Regina Owens nude in the bathtub and covered in feces. The picture's date was June 28, 2015. ROA 162.

Investigator Perry also testified to searches that Carpenter conducted on his computer. ROA 164. There was a single search hit for "urine." ROA 164. There were multiple search hits for "piss." ROA 165. He got multiple hits for "enema." ROA 165.

Perry testified the sites visited by Carpenter were for sexual stimulation. ROA 165. There was no testimony that Carpenter used his computers or cell phones to search for anything relating to child pornography or sexual interest in children.

Dalina Moore, the children's mother, also testified. ROA 185. She is common law married to William Carpenter, III, the son of the defendant. She and her husband have four children, ages 14, 11, 12, and 8 years old. ROA 186. She testified that she and her family moved in with her husband's father, Carpenter, in Spring of 2014. ROA 188. They were all living in the same house during this time frame. Shortly after she moved in, Carpenter's girlfriend, Regina Owens, also moved into the house. ROA 189. Moore testified that her son—the one who is the subject of indictments in this case—has ADHD. It apparently caused him to be held back in kindergarten. ROA 190. Also, he struggles with communication skills. ROA 191. The family moved in with Carpenter when her husband was laid off from work and needed support to help them get on their feet financially. ROA 192.

Moore testified that Regina Owens had a drug problem. She used crack cocaine, marijuana, and pills. ROA 195. During the day, both Moore and Owens would be present at the house while the children attended school, and the men went to work. ROA 195. The two of them would watch television, clean up the house, and talk. ROA 196. Moore admitted that sometimes when she was at the house with Owens, they would drink and do drugs together—she testified they would get “wasted.” ROA 196, l. 16. According to Moore, Carpenter would obtain the drugs for Owens. ROA 197. Moore testified that typically Carpenter would leave for work early

in the morning, and would get home late in the evening, sometimes after 9:00pm. ROA 198. Carpenter and Owens would be left alone with the children if they had to go to the grocery store, if they had an occasional date, or if Moore had a doctor's appointment and her husband had to take her to it. ROA 198.

Moore admitted she was not a very good parent. ROA 199. She and Ms. Owens also had a sexual relationship. ROA 200. They had sexual relations at the home, and also at other places. ROA 200. Moore testified she was "most likely" drunk or high when they had sex. ROA 201. DSS has been involved with the family. ROA 201. Moore and her family moved from Carpenter's home sometime in March 2016. ROA 202. There were times the children would stay at home with Carpenter and Owens while they searched for a house to rent in Pickens. ROA 203.

Around June 2016, Moore testified she became aware that her daughter claimed she had been abused. ROA 204. Her son told her that he had witnessed something while they were living at Carpenter's house. Based on what her son told her, they went to the Traveler's Rest Police Department. ROA 204.

Moore's daughter, according to Moore's testimony, told her she had been the victim of a sexual assault in Carpenter's bedroom around Thanksgiving. ROA 205. She did not know which year around Thanksgiving these events allegedly occurred. ROA 205. Several months after the daughter's disclosure, her son made his alleged disclosure. ROA 208. She took him to the doctor because she was concerned about his health. He was experiencing hallucinations and hearing voices. He would urinate in the corners of their home. ROA 209. He had nightmares and anger issues. ROA

209. At one point, he was given Risperdal for his hallucinations, but Moore quickly took him off that medication. ROA 219. He was also prescribed Zoloft and Prozac at various times. ROA 229.

Moore testified that she was aware that Carpenter and Owens had an unusual sex life because Owens told her. ROA 211. Owens showed Moore a video that related to this unusual sex life. ROA 212.

DSS was involved with the family. At the beginning of November 2016, they came to the house and spoke to the children. ROA 235. Moore called Investigator Kelly the day after they spoke to DSS. ROA 235.

Moore's daughter, the alleged victim, testified. ROA 243. At the time of her testimony, she was 11 years old. ROA 243. She testified that she recalled Carpenter touching her twice in ways that she did not like. ROA 248. On both occasions, she claimed that Regina Owens held her down. ROA 250. She also claimed that Carpenter put "his poop" on her and her brother's backs. ROA 250. Then they had to scrub each other with a rag. ROA 251.

Dr. Mary Fran Crosswell, a child abuse pediatrician with the Greenville Health System, testified for the State. ROA 255. She examined both children in this case. ROA 259. She examined the female child on June 15, 2016 after a referral from the Traveler's Rest Police Department. ROA 259. Dr. Crosswell testified that the child's father told her that she was "acting out, not listening, not doing what she was asked" and that those behaviors first alerted the parents that something was wrong. She was also having nightmares. ROA 270. The child's medical examination came back

normal with a small issue attributed to a form of irritation. ROA 271-72. She tested negative for any sexually transmitted diseases. ROA 273.

Dr. Crosswell examined the young male on November 21, 2016 after a referral by the Traveler's Rests Police Department. ROA 274. During this interview, he disclosed that he was sexually abused in the anal area. ROA 276. She performed her physical, and his results were normal. ROA 276. He also tested negative for HIV. ROA 277.

The male child testified before the jury after Dr. Crosswell. ROA 290. At the time of his testimony, he was nearly 13 years old. ROA 290. He testified he was touched inappropriately in his grandfather's bathroom. ROA 295. He claimed that his grandfather put a syringe in his butt. ROA 295. He did not know if anyone else was in the room when this happened. ROA 296. After that, poop came out of his butt and it was rubbed all over his back. ROA 297. He then claimed his grandfather anally penetrated him. ROA 297. The male child also claimed that his grandfather made him drink his own urine. ROA 297.

Amber Hiott, a licensed professional counselor from the Julie Valentine Center, testified. ROA 307. She conducts forensic interviews in cases where there is a question of sexual assault. ROA 308. She first conducted her interviews of the children on June 14, 2016. ROA 310. She conducted a second interview on November 10, 2016. ROA 310. During the June 14, 2016 interviews, the female child disclosed sexual abuse; the male child did not. ROA 313. On November 10, 2016, she

interviewed both children again. ROA 314. During this last interview, the male child disclosed alleged sexual abuse. All four forensic interviews were published to the jury.

Shauna Galloway-Williams, Executive Director of the Julie Valentine Center, testified for the State. ROA 351. She explained that it is not uncommon for children to delay in disclosing child abuse. ROA 358.

The defendant's son, William Carpenter, also testified. ROA 374. He testified, contrary to Dr. Crosswell's testimony, that his daughter has not had any behavioral or emotional problems, and that she does "wonderful" in school. ROA 375. His son has ADHD and does not like school. ROA 375. His son began to hallucinate when they moved to Pickens, South Carolina after leaving Carpenter's house. ROA 375. He confirmed that both his wife and Ms. Owens were using drugs while they lived there with the children. ROA 380. He also confirmed that the children were left alone with Carpenter and Owens on very limited occasions; like when they went grocery shopping, or when they were searching for a new place to live. ROA 381. Carpenter admitted on cross-examination that he is also a drug user. ROA 387. He denied that he colluded with his children to raise these allegations against his father.

Mr. Carpenter testified on his own behalf at trial. ROA 400. At the time of trial, he was 57 years old. He denied that he was guilty of these crimes. ROA 401. He has owned his own company in Greenville, South Carolina for 24 years. ROA 402. As he explained to the jury, he worked long hours, especially during hail season when he was responsible for fixing the dents out of cars. ROA 403-04. Carpenter explained that he often provided financial support for the family, even when they were living in

Charleston. ROA 405. Carpenter testified that he received an inheritance when his mother passed. ROA 407.

Moore and the children moved in with him in February or March of 2014. ROA 408. Regina Owens moved in shortly afterwards. The house is a little over 2300 square feet. ROA 409. When the family moved in, it was “just sound and noise everywhere, kids everywhere.” ROA 420, ll. 10-11. The house has a lot of wood floors, and everything echoes. ROA 420. Carpenter testified he was at the house most Sundays, but other than that, it was a rare occasion. ROA 421. During the week, he would get home from work around 8:00 and 9:30pm. ROA 421. Carpenter denied that he used crack cocaine, meth, or pills. Instead, he said he liked to have a joint or two in the evenings when he got home, and after the kids were in bed. ROA 424.

Carpenter testified he did not take off for long vacations over Thanksgiving. He would take the day off but would go back to work on Friday and Saturday. ROA 426. For Thanksgiving, they would have Carpenter’s sister and brother-in-law come over. They would cook and have a big meal in the middle of the day. There was a large crowd at the house. ROA 426.

Moore and Carpenter’s son prepared to move out in early 2016. They wanted their own home and were tired of being clumped in the house in one group. ROA 427. He gave his son a talk about being financially responsible. He thought their money problems were largely of their own doing; he wanted his son to be self-sufficient. ROA 428. It appeared there were money issues. Carpenter testified that his son and daughter-in-law informed Carpenter they found a trailer down the road from him,

but they needed help making the down payment because they had not received their tax refund. He told them he could not assist them with the down payment. He felt they were using the children to guilt him into making the down payment since the children were really excited and had already picked out their bedrooms. ROA 429-430.

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