**RECEIVED**

**Jul 06 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001745

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JADEN IMARION GARY,

Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE  
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street  
3<sup>rd</sup> floor  
Spartanburg, SC 29306  
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial judge correctly refused to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of burglary second degree because the jury could not find Appellant guilty of burglary second degree when the evidence did not support the structure being a building rather than a dwelling.**

Appellant argues the trial judge erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of burglary second degree when there was evidence upon which a jury could have found Appellant committed only burglary second degree. Appellant argues “had the trial court judge instructed the jury with burglary 2<sup>nd</sup> degree as trial counsel requested, the jury could have considered Gary’s defense that he did not realize someone was currently residing at the incident location at the time of his entry.” Appellant’s argument lacks merit because Appellant’s belief of whether a dwelling was abandoned is irrelevant because the residence is still a dwelling and not a building.

The jury was charged with burglary first degree. Section 16-11-311 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina defines burglary first degree as:

- (A) A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime in the dwelling and either
  1. When effecting entry or while in the dwelling or in immediate flight, he or another participant in the crime
    - a. Is armed with a deadly weapon or explosive; or
    - b. Uses or threatens the use of a dangerous instrument; or
    - c. Displays what is or appears to be a knife, pistol, revolver, shotgun, machine gun, or other firearm; or
  2. The burglary is committed by a person with a prior record of two or more convictions for burglary or house breaking or a combination of both; or
  3. The entering or remaining occurs at nighttime.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311 (Supp. 2019). Section 16-11-312 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina provides:

- (A) A person is guilty of burglary in the second degree if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein.
- (B) A person is guilty of burglary in the second degree if the person enters a building without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein, and either:
  - 1. When, in effecting entry or while in the building or in immediate flight therefrom, he or another participant in the crime:
    - a. Is armed with a deadly weapon or explosive; or
    - b. Causes physical injury to any person who is not a participant in the crime; or
    - c. Uses or threatens use of a dangerous instrument; or
    - d. Displays what is or appears to be a knife, pistol, revolver, rifle, shotgun, machine gun, or other firearm; or
  - 2. The burglary is committed by a person with a prior record of two or more convictions for burglary or house breaking or a combination of both; or
  - 3. The entering or remaining occurs in the nighttime.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-312 (Supp. 2019).

A trial judge's determination of what law should be charged is made from the evidence presented. State v. Funchess, 267 S.C. 427, 229 S.E.2d 331 (1976). "To justify charging the lesser crime, the evidence presented must allow a rational inference the defendant was guilty only of the lesser offense." State v. Geiger, 370 S.C. 600, 607, 635 S.E.2d 669, 673 (2006). The trial court should refuse to charge the lesser included offense where there has been no evidence tending to show the defendant may have committed solely the lesser offense." Id. In order for the defendant to commit solely the lesser offense, the structure that Appellant entered would have had to be a building and not a dwelling.

In State v. White, White was charged with burglary first degree of a hotel room. State v. White, 349 S.C. 33, 562 S.E.2d 305 (2002). On appeal, White argued that the hotel was a building and not a dwelling so the jury could have found him guilty of the lesser included charges. Id. Our Supreme Court stated "Finally, we find the trial court properly held the motel room in question was being used as a dwelling under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-11-10 and 16-11-

310 (dwelling is defined to include any building in which there sleeps a tenant or person who lodges there with a view to the protection of property; for purposes of burglary statute, dwelling also means living quarters of a building used or normally used for sleeping, living, or lodging by a person).” Id. at 39, 307.

Whether or not Appellant believed the house was abandoned is irrelevant. Unlike Ohio’s Burglary statute that directly refers to “an occupied structure that is a permanent or temporary habitation of any person when any person other than an accomplice of the offender is present or likely to be present, with purpose to commit in the habitation any criminal offense.” Ohio Rev. Code Ann. §2911.12 (2011). The South Carolina statute does not directly refer to whether someone was in the dwelling or likely to be in the dwelling making defendant’s belief that a dwelling was abandoned irrelevant. The question is whether the resident, who resided in the dwelling, intended to return. A resident’s temporary absence does not convert a dwelling into a building. For example, in State v. Glenn, an arson case, the defendant asserted her mobile home was not a dwelling on the day it burned because she was in the process of moving out. State v. Glenn, 297 S.C. 29, 374 S.E.2d 671 (1988). The court held that since the defendant returned to the mobile home many times after her husband’s death to gather more possessions, specifically on the day the mobile home burned, that she had not vacated the mobile home because she had the intention of returning. Id. The court explained that when a dwelling’s habitational status is called into question by the occupier’s temporary absence, the test is whether the occupant has left with the intention to return. Id.

Burglary is a crime against property and not possession and therefore whether a building is a dwelling house turns on whether the occupant has left with the intention to return and the

temporary absence of occupants will not prevent a residence from becoming the subject of burglary. State v. Davis, 422 S.C. 472, 812 S.E.2d 423 (Ct. App. 2018).

In State v. Evans, this Court considered whether a family's second home was a dwelling even though the homeowners only occasionally went there, had not slept there for three years, and used the home essentially "as a storage building." State v. Evans, 376 S.C. 421, 656 S.E.2d 782 (Ct. App. 2008). This Court held the evidence supported a finding that the house was a dwelling, emphasizing that the house was filled with property, the utilities were on, and the house was "ready to be lived in." Id. This Court explained that "Temporary absence from a 'dwelling' is irrelevant." Id., at 425, 656 S.E.2d at 784.

In this case, there is plenty of evidence that the structure was a dwelling and that Williams intended to return. Williams testified that he currently lived there and had been living there for the last three years. (Tr. 106). Williams refers to one of the rooms as his bedroom during his testimony. (Tr. 108) Similar to Evans, it is clear that Williams' residence is filled with property such as electronics, furniture, clothes, silverware, and the utilities were functioning. (Tr. 105-142). Brad Newton, the investigator working the case also testified at trial that it was clear that someone was currently living in the structure. (Tr. 165). There is plenty of evidence that the structure was a dwelling because Williams' was clearly living there and intended to return after work. Therefore, the evidence did not support a finding that the structure was a building and not a dwelling, and the jury could not have found Appellant guilty of burglary second degree rather than burglary first degree. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed

## **II. The Trial Judge did not abuse his discretion in sentencing Appellant.**

Appellant argues the trial court abused its discretion in imposing a sentence of five years over the minimum limit because Appellant exercised his right to trial. This argument lacks merit

because it's premised on the fact that the State made a recommendation for 15 years and after trial argued that Appellant should not receive the minimum sentence. The State did not make a 15 year recommendation. It made a plea offer of 15 years that was no longer available once trial began. Further, the sentencing range for burglary first degree is no less than 15 years, but can carry up to a life sentence.

“At sentencing a judge has an obligation to consider information material to punishment.” Hayden v. State, 283 S.C. 121, 123, 322 S.E.2d 14, 15 (1984). “A trial judge generally has wide discretion in determining what sentence to impose. It is also true that before making that determination, a judge may appropriately conduct an inquiry broad in scope, largely unlimited either as to the kind of information he may consider or the source from which it may come.” State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976).

Appellant relies on two cases that are not applicable here. In Davis v. State, our Supreme Court held counsel was ineffective in failing to object when the trial judge indicated the reason he sentenced Davis more harshly than two similarly situated offenders who, unlike Davis, had pled guilty was because those offenders admitted their guilt. Davis v. State, 336 S.C. 329, 520 S.E.2d 801 (1999). When the defense counsel made the point that defendant had no prior drug convictions, the trial judge in Davis stated

“Yes ma'am, but he didn't plead guilty. Those other two people they pled guilty. They admitted what they had done and to me that's the first step towards rehabilitation is admitting that you did something wrong and you're pleading guilty and when a fellow wants a trial which he's entitled to as a matter of law- and that's fine.”

Id. at 332, 802. In State v. Hazel, our Supreme Court held that the trial judge abused his discretion when the judge considered the fact that Hazel did not plead guilty in declining to grant Hazel's request for sentencing under the Youthful Offender Act. State v. Hazel, 317 S.C. 368,

453 S.E.2d 879 (1995). In Hazel, the trial judge made the comment “Well, it’s one thing, if he’d pled guilty, I’d have considered that...” Id. at 369, 879. In the present case, Appellant seems to impute to the trial judge’s sentencing the comment made by the solicitor and there is no evidence of such. Unlike Davis and Hazel, the trial judge in this case did not make any comments regarding a guilty plea or exercising the right to trial.

Appellant also relies on a quote from State v. Follin<sup>1</sup> stating “We caution the Bench that a trial judge abuses his or her discretion in sentencing when the judge considers the fact that the defendant exercises the right to a jury trial.” (Initial Brief of Appellant p. 14). In State v. Follin, Follin was convicted of aiding and abetting embezzlement, criminal conspiracy, and obtaining goods and services by false pretenses, in connection with the diversion of funds from a school district through a fake travel scheme. State v. Follin, 352 S.C. 235, 573 S.E.2d 812 (Ct. App. 2002). Most of the other individuals charged in the scheme pled guilty to the charges, however Follin proceeded to trial. Id. On appeal, Follin argued that the trial court erroneously considered her exercise of the right to a jury trial by sentencing her more severely than her co-defendants who pled guilty. Id. This court held that Follin was not in the same position as the others because they were not all charged with identical crimes and they faced different sentences. Id. at 256, 823. In regard to the comments that the trial judge made about the guilty pleas, the court stated

“It is regrettable that the trial judge in the present case commented on Adam’s guilty plea and the consideration given to him for pleading guilty. However, the trial judge repeatedly noted that he was not considering Follin’s exercise of her right to a jury trial in rendering her sentence. Further, Follin’s charged and potential sentences were vastly different so as to render comparison to any other co-defendant difficult. Thus, unlike Brouwer<sup>2</sup>, the record before us clearly indicates that the differences

---

<sup>1</sup> State v. Follin, 352 S.C. 235, 257-58, 573 S.E.2d 812, 824 (Ct. App. 2002)

<sup>2</sup> State v. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 550 S.E.2d 915 (Ct. App. 2001).

in the charges Follin faced led to the disparity in her sentence, not her decision to proceed with a trial.”

Id. at 257, 823-824. Although the trial judge in Follin made comments regarding a guilty plea, it was evident that her decision to proceed to trial did not affect her sentence. Again, in the present case the trial judge did not make any comments about Appellant pleading guilty or exercising his right to go to trial.

Lastly, Appellant relies on State v. Brouwer in which the Court held that despite trial judge’s comments that he would never punish someone for exercising his or her right to a jury trial, the majority opinion found the trial judge expressly violated Davis by improperly considering that fact during sentencing especially since the record failed to show another reason for the disparate sentence given between Brouwer and his co-defendant who was charged with the same offense. State v. Brouwer, 346 S.C. 375, 550 S.E.2d 915 (Ct. App. 2001). The present case is distinguished from Brouwer for two reasons. First and again, there were no comments by the trial judge regarding a jury trial or a guilty plea here. In addition is there is no evidence in the record that there was a co-defendant who was charged with the same crime and received a much shorter sentence because he pled guilty.

Further, burglary in the first degree is a felony punishable by life imprisonment with a minimum sentence of no less than fifteen years. S.C. Code Ann § 16-11-311(B) (Supp. 2019). Appellant was approximately 20 years old at the time of sentencing. Considering the young age of Appellant and the maximum sentence that could have been imposed on Appellant, five years over the minimum sentence was well within the sentencing range for his convictions and is evidence that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in sentencing Appellant. Therefore, Appellant’s sentence should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments and convictions of the lower court should be affirmed.